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CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The West Riding of Yorkshire was one of three historic sub-divisions of the ancient English County of Yorkshire (the others being the North and East Ridings). From 1889 to 1974 it was the administrative county, the County of York, West Riding but was abolished by the Local Government Act 1972 and replaced by the counties of West Yorkshire and South Yorkshire. Over the succeeding thirty years the administrative authority has changed several times but since 2014 it has been two ‘combined’ authorities, similar in area and function to the two metropolitan counties set up by the 1972 Act. For the purposes of this narration, the term West Riding will be used throughout, unless this conflicts with the actions of successor authorities, in which case the successors will be named.

A Railway Battlefield

That the West Riding has a rich and varied history is beyond doubt. In railway terms, it has been described as the most complex railway network in Britain. It had seven major railway companies with territory in the county and an eighth actively seeking opportunities to gain entry. There were eleven significant joint lines and several minor systems. There appeared to be no overall strategic pattern of territory or route but companies seemed to incessantly vie with one another for supremacy. They pursued major campaigns with many long battles and only co-operated when no alternative existed. In many cases, the justification for competition with another operator for traffic would not stand close scrutiny today. The companies themselves were often woefully inefficient; duplication of facilities was widespread and over twenty-five of the area’s towns and villages had two passenger stations, whilst some had three or four!

To seek to understand this railway battlefield it is necessary to look first at what drove the economy of the area. The answer to this lies in the unique physical and economic geography of the region. In the west, and forming a formidable barrier to the neighbouring county of Lancashire, are the Pennine Hills. From north to south these rise steeply from the Lancashire plain and then, in general terms, subside slowly over the territory to the east, until the flat lands of the East Riding are reached. This great Pennine chain is divided by the valleys of seven rivers flowing in an easterly direction: the Swale, Ure, Nidd, Wharfe, Aire, Calder and the Don, all with numerous tributaries. Not to put too fine a point on it, the rivers define Yorkshire, particularly the West Riding. As a means of transport for both raw materials and finished goods they played a pivotal role in facilitating the Industrial Revolution.

Before this, it was an area that we would now classify as being of outstanding natural beauty, with dramatic craggy uplands and short, tussocky grass, heather and grey rock mellowing into wooded valley slopes and then rolling green foothills. If such an area existed today it would have been declared a National Park and given the full protection of the law.


REMEMBERING THE YORKSHIRE RIVERS

As a schoolchild, the author clearly remembers being taught the mnemonic SUNWACD (Swale, Ure, Nidd, etc.) as a means of remembering the principal rivers in Yorkshire. Some wag in our number made it easier by simplifying it still further to: ‘Sam’s uncle never wore any cotton drawers’! Whatever, it worked and sixty years later it is still firmly fixed in the mind.



Establishment of Trade

As it was, three of its elements were to bring about its industrialization and eventual desecration. The first of these elements was water. Rushing down from the hills in fast-flowing streams, becks and small rivers, the water was soft, lime-free and abundant – ideal for cleansing the wool from the upland sheep. From the thirteenth century, fulling mills had been established in these upland areas to prepare the wool from the sheep for the nearby weavers. Over the next three hundred years, Halifax, Leeds and Wakefield became important centres for woollen cloth. The second element was coal, mined in the area from the twelfth century and becoming a major undertaking for household purposes in Elizabethan times. The final element in the trio was ironstone, excavated from the thirteenth century and smelted with charcoal plundered from the native woodlands to give Sheffield its metal industry, with the abundant water powering the grinding mills and drop forges.

In the Middle Ages, despite the rural nature of the region with its feudal system of employment, trade was established. Agriculture predominated and most people worked on the land. As already referred to, the upland hill farmers were breeding sheep both for meat and their wool. The wool was used to make cloth with domestic-scale weaving looms and the finished products transported by packhorse along the primitive roads to the emergent wool cloth centres of Halifax, Leeds and Wakefield. Although in the Middle Ages sheep farming was confined to the uplands, the success of the cloth trade demanded more and more wool production. This led to lowland pastures, closer to the cloth centres, being turned over to sheep farming. However, by the middle of the eighteenth century, trade was being hindered by the lack of transport capacity to get woollen goods to markets in the UK and to the empire by means of the ports.

Need for Inland Transport

In the late-seventeenth century (1699), the Aire and Calder Navigation, linking Leeds and Wakefield to the sea, was authorized by an Act of Parliament to canalize the River Aire from Leeds and the River Calder from Wakefield, thereby providing a reliable passage by boat to the rivers Ouse and Humber, and thence to the North Sea. The navigation was funded primarily by textile merchants and coal owners who saw better transport infrastructure as a key part of the development of their trade. It was completed by 1704, but took a couple of decades to become established.

The merchants of Huddersfield and Halifax watched the success of the Aire and Calder Navigation and became concerned that the textile industry in their towns would be eclipsed by their rivals in Leeds and Wakefield, who were able to enjoy easy access to markets by using the new navigation system. To rectify this imbalance, they proposed a similar scheme using the rivers Calder and Hebble with appropriate canalized sections on a route from Wakefield to Sowerby Bridge, close to Halifax. Work began in 1758 to make the River Calder navigable above Wakefield, and the whole navigation to Sowerby Bridge was completed in 1770. Sir John Ramsden’s Canal, later known as the Huddersfield Broad Canal, was opened in 1776, providing a branch to Huddersfield. Significantly, the Calder and Hebble Navigation, as it became known, was the first waterway to face the engineering challenges and push westwards into the Pennine Hills.

By the 1770s, many of the original waterway promoters had become so wealthy from increased trade that, in addition to purchasing large country estates, they set about promoting further waterway schemes. The impetus for their continued investment came from Yorkshire’s traditional rivals west of the Pennines – the county of Lancashire. Here, in 1763, the Duke of Bridgewater, following a visit to the Canal du Midi in France, commissioned a canal from his coal mines in Worsley, to Runcorn via Central Manchester. Overnight the price of coal in the city was halved, an event that was not lost on the thrifty Yorkshiremen in the east.

The Pennines have always formed a major barrier to communication and trade between Lancashire and Yorkshire, particularly in winter. The geography of the Pennines was, therefore, of great importance. Not only were the fells and moors a considerable physical barrier, but their presence influenced the very nature and type of industry and commerce that developed on their flanks. Because of the hills, Lancashire and Yorkshire developed quite distinct economies, with Yorkshire tending to look east and south, and Lancashire turned westwards. Yorkshire had a long and unbroken involvement with woollen textiles, trading originally through London, with the commercial centres of Western Europe. Lancashire, on the other hand, had a textile industry based principally on the linen trade with Ireland. Woollen manufacture was low-key and concerned mainly with serving local markets. To serve the linen trade, there developed, in the eighteenth century, a considerable coastal and international shipping trade, especially with Ireland and the Americas. It was this that provided the most pressing reason for the promotion of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, since the Bradford wool merchants desperately wanted to have access to the colonial trades working out of Liverpool. This was especially marked when, during the late-eighteenth century, the manufacturers in the Bradford area gradually took over the lucrative worsted industry from its former centre in East Anglia, whilst those in Lancashire expanded by creating an immensely important new textile industry based on cotton, which arrived from America via Liverpool – an industry that was destined, of course, to stimulate and feed a huge explosion of industrial development in Lancashire.

The Coming of the Canals

The Leeds and Liverpool Canal was to play an important role in this Industrial Revolution, long before it was ever thought of as such. Entrepreneurs and merchants on both sides of the Pennines had begun to look at ways of improving inland waterways to move their bulky goods more quickly and cheaply. The canal was the first of the trans-Pennine canals to be started (and the last to be completed). The length and complexity of the route meant that the canal took forty-six years to build and cost five times the original budget.

The Act authorizing the canal was passed in 1770 and, to start with, progress was rapid. By 1773, the lock-free section from Skipton to Bingley was open and, by 1777, the canal between Liverpool, Parbold and Gathurst, near Wigan, and from Leeds to Gargrave, including the branch to Bradford, were all open. However, the high cost of the ‘staircase’ locks in the Bingley area absorbed all the available funds and work came to a halt. It was to be a further ten years, in 1791, before work re-started on building the canal west from Gargrave. In 1794, a new Act was passed, changing the route to run via Burnley and Blackburn, instead of Whalley and Waltonle-Dale. Foulridge Tunnel was opened in 1796 making the canal navigable from Leeds to Burnley. The section from Burnley to Blackburn took a further fourteen years to construct, and the missing link west of Blackburn to the Lancaster Canal at Johnson’s Hillock was not complete until six years later, in 1816, when the canal finally opened as a through route between Liverpool and Leeds. When completed the canal was an enormous 127 miles (204km) long with ninety-one locks rising 487ft (150m) above sea level. Despite the circuitous route taken, the canal was the most successful long-distance canal in Britain. In 1906, it carried 2,337,401 tons (2,120,000 tonnes) of cargo and was still carrying some commercial traffic in the 1970s.

Meanwhile, frustrated by the slow (and at times non-existent) construction progress of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, a group of merchants in Ashton, Manchester, sought an Act to construct a new canal from their own Ashton Canal at Dukinfield, eastwards via Stalybridge, Diggle and Marsden to Huddersfield, joining up with the Huddersfield Broad Canal and potentially providing an inland waterway route from the Irish Sea to the North Sea.The Act was passed in 1794 and work began almost immediately.

Despite a length of less than twenty miles (32km), there were numerous engineering difficulties to overcome on the new canal. The construction of Standedge Tunnel – the highest, longest and deepest canaltunnelinBritain–almostbankruptedtheentire project with around fifty workers unfortunately losing their lives during its construction. The canal took seventeen years to construct, rather than the planned five. The costs rose to £396,267 (equivalent to £31.7m in 2020), which was more than twice the original budget. Standedge Tunnel alone cost

£123,804 (equivalent to £9.9m in 2020) to construct. The result of overspending on this scale meant that shareholders received little or no return on their investment for the next thirty years.

However, despite the construction cost and the navigational difficulties, the canal did enjoy a short period of relative prosperity until 1845, when it was bought by the Huddersfield and Manchester Railway Company.




Navigable waterways of the West Riding.



The Rochdale Canal, the third and final transPennine canal, also obtained its Act of Parliament in 1794. The route was from Sowerby Bridge on the Calder and Hebble Navigation to Castlefield, Manchester, on the Bridgewater Canal, by way of Hebden Bridge and Rochdale, a distance of thirtytwo miles (51km) and ninety-two locks. In 1804, it became the first of the three trans-Pennine canals to be fully opened – perhaps due to the choice of a route over the top of the Pennines, avoiding the problems with tunnel construction that had bedevilled the other two waterways. However, the benefit of being without tunnels speeded up construction but left an everlasting legacy of water-supply problems in busy periods. The large number of locks on a relatively short length of canal, which rose to a height of over 600ft (~183m), meant that water supply would always be a problem. Seven reservoirs were built specially to service the canal. Locks were made large enough to accommodate broad-gauge (14ft/~4m) boats with commercial payloads of up to 70 tons (63.5 tonnes). All the locks were given the same fall: meaning that all gates were the same size, making maintenance easier and conserving water by using the same amount of water for each lock operation.

Principal cargoes carried included cotton, wool, coal, limestone, timber, salt, agricultural produce and general merchandise. This canal proved to be the most successful of the three trans-Pennine routes and for 120 years its shareholders enjoyed a healthy return on their investment (but somewhat diminished at the end of the First World War). From the beginning trade built up steadily, with the highest volume of traffic in 1845, when 979,443 tons (888,536 tonnes) were carried. Even after the canal was leased by the railway companies (1855–76), carryings still amounted to 878,651 tons (797,099 tonnes), all of which was handled profitably

So, by 1820, the canal system was in place and providing the main transport arteries across the West Riding into Lancashire and across to the East Coast. Everything looked set fair for the future prosperity of the canal proprietors. But, within five years a small cloud had appeared on the horizon and, like most small clouds, it could have just melted away and allowed the sun to shine unbroken on the canals and their burgeoning traffic or, as proved to be the case, it could develop into a major storm and threaten the future of the whole system. The small cloud in this case was the railway between Stockton and Darlington.


TRAFFIC DELAYS ON THE HUDDERSFIELD NARROW CANAL

The canal was built for 70ft-long (~21m) narrowboats, whilst the Huddersfield Broad Canal (then called Sir John Ramsden’s Canal) could take wider but shorter craft, as used on the Calder and Hebble Navigation. Goods, therefore, had to be trans-shipped between the two at Huddersfield. This enforced double-handling increased costs to unacceptable levels.

To make matters worse, the three-and-a-quartermile long (5.25km) Standedge Tunnel was not built wide enough for boats to pass one another. To save money, no towpath was provided, so whilst the horses had the ‘luxury’ of a walk over Marsden Moor, the boat crew had to propel the boat along by ‘legging it’ or walking along the tunnel walls whilst lying transversely across the vessel. There were four passing places in the tunnel but, as the traffic increased and with time meaning money for the boat crews, there were frequent fights as crews refused to back off. The Canal Company decided that boats could only be propelled through the tunnel by its own official ‘leggers’ and to operate a traffic control system. This involved only westbound traffic using the tunnel for a four-hour period, then only eastbound during the next four hours and so on. The tunnel thus became an enormous bottleneck and resulted in processions of boats emerging from the tunnel only to have to queue to use the locks one at a time.




THE STOCKTON AND DARLINGTON RAILWAY COMPANY

Established in the north-east of England, this was the world’s first public railway to use steam locomotives. It connected collieries near Shildon with Stocktonon-Tees and Darlington in County Durham, opening on 27 September 1825. Its purpose was to move coal from the mines near Shildon to ships on the River Tees at Stockton and, as noted, was the first to use steam engines. In the early years of the company’s existence, these were confined to hauling coal trains, passenger trains being horse drawn until 1833.

The construction of the line was the brainchild of George Stephenson assisted by his son Robert and his elder brother James. Experience gained on this railway put them in the vanguard of railway civil and mechanical engineering, and in the years that followed, their services were much in demand.





The Railway Age Begins

Hot on the heels of the Stockton and Darlington Railway, events on the other side of the Pennines drew the attention of the of West Riding businessmen. In the early 1820s, it was felt by their Lancastrian counterparts that the existing means of water transport – the Mersey and Irwell Navigation, the Bridgewater Canal and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal – were making excessive profits from the cotton trade and throttling the growth of Manchester and other towns. A railway between Liverpool and Manchester was proposed to provide a cheap means of transporting both raw materials from the docks and finished goods back to the docks for export. An Act of Parliament was obtained in 1826 and construction began right away, with George Stephenson as engineer.




The replica of Stephenson’s Rocket seen at Loughborough, Great Central Railway in 2010.



The directors of the Liverpool and Manchester Railway (L&MR) had originally intended to use stationary steam engines to haul trains along the railway using cables. However, George Stephenson, as their engineer, strongly advocated the use of steam locomotives instead. As the railway was approaching completion, the directors decided to hold a competition to decide whether locomotives could be used to pull the trains and offered a top prize of £500 to the winner; these became known as the Rainhill Trials. A long list of conditions was drawn up and the trials were to last for five days. The length of the L&MR that ran past Rainhill village was straight and level for over 1 mile (1.6km), and was chosen as the site for the trials. Two or three locomotives ran each day with several tests for each locomotive performed over the course of six days. The trials were held before a vast concourse of spectators and the atmosphere was like that of a race meeting. Grandstands were erected alongside the tracks, and between 10,000 and 15,000 people turned up to watch. Bands provided musical entertainment.

The Rocket, designed and built by George and Robert Stephenson, was the only locomotive that completed the trials. It averaged 12mph (19km/h) and achieved a top speed of 30mph (48km/h) hauling 13 tons (11.8 tonnes), and was declared the winner of the £500 prize (equal to £43,219 today). The Stephensons were given the contract to produce locomotives for the L&MR.

The Liverpool and Manchester Railway opened on 15 September 1830 and became:


• The world’s first inter-city railway.

• The first railway to rely exclusively on locomotives driven by steam power.

• The first to be entirely double-track throughout its length.

• The first to have a signalling system.

• The first to be fully timetabled.

• The first to carry mail.



These developments were not lost on the merchants of the West Riding.

The Leeds and Hull Railway Company was formed in 1824 in Leeds. George Stephenson was appointed as engineer and recommended a doubletrack railway, operated by locomotives at a speed of 8mph (13km/h). The hills on the route out of Leeds were to have three inclined planes to be worked by three stationary engines. The remainder of the line was to be very nearly level. The company was one of several contemporary projects aimed at linking the east and west sides of northern England, in this case in conjunction with the Manchester and Leeds Railway formed in 1825. Both schemes were not immediately acted upon, in part due to the stock-market crash of 1825, but it has been suggested that the canny Yorkshiremen wanted to see how the Liverpool and Manchester fared before they committed their ‘brass’.

The Leeds and Hull scheme stagnated. In the meantime, the Knottingley and Goole Canal (an extension of the Aire and Calder Navigation) opened in 1826, transforming the village of Goole from obscurity into a viable trans-shipment port for Europe. Alarm bells started to ring in Hull.

The growth of Goole as a port to rival Hull was sufficient to spur the Hull-based shareholders of the Leeds and Hull Railway into action. At the end of 1828, they motioned that the railway should be built as far as Selby, with the remainder of the journey to Hull being made by steam packet, most importantly, bypassing Goole. The shareholders passed the proposal at a general meeting in Leeds on 20 March 1829 and the Leeds and Selby Railway Company was formed. Despite strong opposition from the Aire and Calder Navigation, which had a practical monopoly on transportation in the area, a bill was passed in Parliament on 29 May 1830, allowing construction of the line to commence.

By 22 September 1834, a single complete line of track had been built, and the railway was officially opened. A train of ten carriages, hauled by the locomotive Nelson, set out from Marsh Lane Station in Leeds at 6.30am. To the embarrassment of the Leeds and Selby (L&S) directors, and the amusement of the gathered spectators, the locomotive got into difficulty on the incline at the tunnel. The wheels began to slip on wet rails and, despite the application of ash on the rails, initial progress was no better than walking pace. Once the high point of the line was reached, better progress was made: at Garforth, on a stretch of track falling 1 in 180, a speed of 20mph (32km/h) was attained. Selby was reached before 9am. The return journey took one hour and sixteen minutes. The following day, the 23rd, two trains were run each way, with a better timing of sixty-five minutes from Leeds to Selby.

Both lines of track were complete by 15 December 1834, when the railway began to take goods traffic. Although passengers were accommodated (in goods wagons), the company’s focus was on freight and used its line as a feeder for waterborne transport after trans-shipment at Selby.

The merchants and the manufacturers of the West Riding, having seen the success of the first intercity railway, the Liverpool and Manchester and, in 1833, the passing of Acts of Parliament for lines to London from Lancashire, realized that they would be at a commercial disadvantage unless they acted quickly to facilitate similar transport facilities for their own area.

The merchants of the West Riding needed to find someone with vision and drive who could see the ‘bigger picture’ and lead others of like mind, but who were perhaps less visionary, in the ways of this new railway business. There is an old adage ‘cometh the hour, cometh the man’, and this was demonstrably true in the early 1830s when a man with no background in transport came on the scene who was to have enormous influence on railway development in the West Riding and beyond, earning himself the title ‘The Railway King’. This was, of course, George Hudson. Hudson had, as we have seen, no former interest in railways but, seeing them as a potentially profitable investment, he arranged a public meeting in 1833 to discuss building a line from York to Leeds. Resulting from this meeting, a group of York businessmen formed a railway committee. The initial idea was to link York to Leeds to enable the city to enjoy cheaper coal and emulate the industrial success being enjoyed by Leeds, Bradford and other West Riding towns. Hudson was treasurer of this group and subsequently subscribed for 500 shares, becoming the largest shareholder. They retained John Rennie to survey the line and Hudson accompanied him, learning the practicalities of railway construction and of dealing with landowners.

Disappointingly, despite the success of the locomotive-powered Liverpool and Manchester Railway on the other side of the Pennines, Rennie produced plans for a horse-drawn line (in 1834) and matters fell into abeyance. Later in the same year, Hudson met George Stephenson by chance in Whitby, they became friends and business associates. He learnt of Stephenson’s dream of a railway from London, using the London and Birmingham Railway from Rugby, through Derby and Leeds to Newcastle – but (to Hudson’s dismay) bypassing York. Later that year, at a public meeting in York, the York and North Midland Railway (Y&NMR) was formed to build a railway line to a junction with the proposed North Midland Railway near Normanton. While the Y&NMR route was being planned, the North Midland Railway (NMR) was formed (in 1835) to build the line from Derby to Leeds. This would connect with the Midland Counties Railway (MCR) at Derby and, therefore, via the London and Birmingham Railway, provide rail access to London.

The Y&NMR received its Act of Parliament on 21 June 1836. At its first official meeting, Hudson was elected chairman with other officers, including James Meek, James Richardson and Richard Nicholson (Hudson’s brother-in-law). George Stephenson was appointed engineer for the line, a private bill was presented to Parliament seeking permission to build the railway and Royal Assent was given on 21 June 1836 to the Act that confirmed Hudson as chairman.




Hebden Bridge railway station seen in October 2010. Note the staggered platforms.



The first railway to connect the West Riding with Lancashire was the Manchester and Leeds Railway Company. Plans to form such a company had been around since 1825, but obtaining the necessary Act of Parliament proved elusive. It was not until July 1836 that the Act received the Royal Assent and construction could begin. In order to overcome the challenge of the Pennines, Stephenson took a circuitous route from Manchester through Rochdale to Littleborough, where a 1.6-mile tunnel (2.6km), aptly named Summit Tunnel, saw the beginning of the descent, continuing the line through Walsden and Todmorden into the Upper Colne Valley. From there the line meandered on through Hebden Bridge, Sowerby Bridge and Horbury to join the existing NMR at Normanton to reach Leeds.

The choice of route meant that the line bypassed the important trade centres of Oldham, Halifax, Huddersfield and Bradford – something the company would come to regret in future years.

The company had given an undertaking to construct a branch line from their main line at Cooper Bridge to Huddersfield after the backers of the Huddersfield and Leeds Railway had withdrawn their competing scheme in early 1836. However, their proposal for a low-level line along the Calder Valley limited the potential for connecting to other routes and received little support at meetings held in Huddersfield in 1844. Instead, the high-level line proposed by the Huddersfield and Manchester Railway and Canal Company was viewed more favourably and was approved by Parliament in April 1845.

Not to be outdone by their fellow Yorkshiremen in Leeds, the merchants of Sheffield could see advantage to their trade with better communications. The canal route to Manchester and Liverpool involved a long northwards detour through the Pennines, a journey taking eight days, with the more arduous direct route by horse and cart taking about two days but with much smaller loads. Proposals for a railway via Whaley Bridge and the Hope Valley led to the formation of a ‘Sheffield and Manchester Railway’ with a prospectus issued in 1830. Concerns were expressed at the severity of the gradients and an alternate route via Penistone was put forward. The proprietors of the company could not make up their minds as to which route to select and this indecisiveness led to a waning of public interest, resulting in the proposal being dropped.




West Riding Railways 1845.



However, the apparent success of the Liverpool and Manchester Railway revived interest and, in 1835, Charles Vignoles was asked to examine another route going via Woodhead and Penistone. A new company, the ‘Sheffield, Ashton-under-Lyne and Manchester Railway’ was formed. The new line could be worked by adhesion and required only a 2-mile (3km) tunnel. Vignoles and Joseph Locke were asked to make independent surveys and, in October, met to reconcile any differences, at which time they decided that a longer tunnel would reduce the gradients involved. The line obtained its Act of Incorporation in Parliament on 5 May 1837. Construction began quickly but the tunnelling was arduous and, although sections of the line opened earlier, the whole route did not open for business until 1845.

In the few short years between 1830 and 1845, the basic structure of railways in the West Riding was complete. Railways had been authorized in an east-to-west direction, giving access from Leeds to Manchester and Liverpool; from north to south, connecting York with Leeds via Normanton, south to Derby and on to London by means of the Midland Counties and Grand Junction Railway Companies, and in the south of the county, Sheffield was connected to Manchester via the Woodhead route. What happened next became almost unbelievable as ‘railway mania’ gripped the country. Railways were proposed the length and breadth of the kingdom, and none more so than in Yorkshire. The plan ‘West Riding Railways 1845’ shows railways open or under construction in 1845, forming the basis of the ‘railway battleground’ that was to be fought over so wastefully in the coming decades.


EFFECT ON WATERWAY DIVIDENDS

The competition for trade brought about by the opening of the Leeds and Selby line, forced the Aire and Calder Navigation to make considerable reductions in their charges and, by implication, dividends paid to shareholders. Previously, that company’s monopoly had resulted in enormous dividends, some of over 200 per cent. The competition from the new railway was beginning to bite and waterway proprietors would not see the like of such dividends again.




FINDING A LEADER – GEORGE HUDSON

Born in 1800 to John and Elizabeth Hudson, George Hudson was unfortunately orphaned at the age of eight and seems to have been brought up by his elder brothers, William and John. He left school at the age of fifteen and was apprenticed to Bell and Nicholson, a firm of drapers in College Street, York. He must have shown great promise during his apprenticeship, which he finished in 1820, as he was taken on as a tradesman and given a share in the business early in 1821. On 17 July that year he married Nicholson’s daughter Elizabeth and the cynics amongst us might conclude that this union had some influence on his success. When Bell retired, the firm became Nicholson and Hudson. George soon repaid the faith his father-in-law had shown in him by developing the company, which, by 1827, was the largest drapery and, indeed, the largest business in York. In the same year, his greatuncle Matthew Botrill fell ill and Hudson attended at his bedside. In thanks for this, the old man made a will leaving him his fortune of £30,000.




CHAPTER 2

Railways Around Leeds

We have already seen how the merchants of Leeds had their town in the vanguard of West Yorkshire railway development. However, railways – or more accurately wagonways – had been established much earlier in the area in 1755.

The Aire and Calder Navigation, opened in 1704, gave access to the sea by means of the Ouse and the Humber. There was an abundance of coal within a few miles of the Navigation and the combination of the availability of waterborne transport and the vast coal reserves led to many collieries being developed. The difficulty was transporting the freshly mined coal from pit to barge. The only option was by horse and cart, which was slow and expensive.

The Yorkshire Wagonways

Further north, at about the same time, wagonways were being established and were flourishing in the Northumberland and Durham coalfields. The coal wagons had flangeless wooden rollers that ran on wooden rails supported by transverse timbers spaced out at approximately 2ft (0.6m). Each wooden rail had an upright timber to guide the roller along the rail. Gravity and horses aided the wagon to descend from pit to staithe (quay), and the horses were used to bring the empty wagons back to the pit. By the middle years of the eighteenth century, wagonways had become an integral part of the transport of coal away from the coalfields of the North-East.

A prominent North-Eastern mine owner was Charles Brandling of Gosforth Hall, Killingworth, near Newcastle. He inherited estates and collieries at Middleton, near Leeds, in 1849 and was immediately critical of the methods used to get the coal to the Navigation, meaning, in effect, that it was costing him more than his competitor, the Fentons of Rothwell, who used the river for transport directly into Leeds. Brandling, through his agent, Richard Humble (also from Tyneside), built a wagonway from Middleton to Thwaite Gate on the River Aire, which is believed to have been operational by 1755. Brandling soon realized that if the wagonway went into the centre of Leeds, he could avoid paying dues to the Navigation proprietors altogether. He negotiated wayleaves with the landowners but, just to be sure, he obtained an Act of Parliament dated 9 June 1758 to give validity to these agreements. This became the first Act of Parliament authorizing a railway. The gauge was 4ft 1in (1.25m) and was doubletracked so that loaded wagons could easily pass the returning empties without ‘let or hindrance’. The route was from Middleton to Casson Close, Leeds, near Meadow Lane on the River Aire. Charles Brandling could supply coal at very favourable prices and through this ‘cut-throat’ competition became the sole supplier of coal to Leeds. This, together with the opening of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal as far as Skipton in 1777, facilitated the Industrial Revolution in the city. Cheap Middleton coal gradually enabled Leeds to become a centre for the many developing industries that used coal as a source of heat, including pottery, brick and glass-making, metal-working, brewing or as a source of power for mill and factory engines.

Although in a semi-monopoly position, Brandling was constantly having to ward off competition. In 1789, Beeston New Colliery was joined to the wagonway making a total length of about fourand-a-quarter miles (6.8km). In the last thirty years of the eighteenth century, the population of Leeds almost doubled to about 31,000 and the quantity of coal supplied rose to about 50,000 tons (~45,000 tonnes). As was to be expected, this heavy use of the wooden rails led to rapid wear. To counter this, hard cast-iron plates (a very new material then) were laid on the rails.

There were some early successes with West Riding-built steam engines, but these were eclipsed by the opening of the Stockton and Darlington Railway in 1825 and the Liverpool and Manchester in 1830. Brandling’s collieries were suffering from increasing competition and, in 1834, they passed into the hands of trustees. The hard-worked steam engines were, after more than twenty years’ work, ready for replacement, but a fall in the price of fodder and a good supply of horses allowed horse traction to be reinstated from 1835 instead.
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